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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

MYA BATTON, AARON BOLTON, MICHAEL BRACE, DO YEON IRENE KIM, ANNA JAMES,
JAMES MULLIS, and THEODORE BISBICOS, individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated, Plaintiffs,

V.

COMPASS, INC.; EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC.; REDFIN CORPORATION; WEICHERT
REALTORS; UNITED REAL ESTATE GROUP; HOWARD HANNA REAL ESTATE SERVICES;
and DOUGLAS ELLIMAN INC., Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT JURY TRIAL DEMANDED'

4. Plaintiffs and Class Members are home buyers who purchased their homes on MLSs
affiliated with and governed by NAR. Plaintiffs bring this action against Defendants for agreeing,
combining, and conspiring to impose, implement, and enforce anticompetitive restraints that
reduce price competition in the markets for buyer-agent services in violation of federal antitrust
law and state antitrust statutes, consumer protection laws, and common law. Defendants’
unlawful, anticompetitive conduct causes America’s home buyers to pay inflated commissions
for broker services they misrepresent as free, to pay inflated prices for the homes they
purchase, and to receive reduced quality broker services.

8. NAR imposes certain anticompetitive rules, policies, and practices on NAR MLSs. NAR also
recommends certain rules, policies, and practices that NAR MLSs have widely adopted. NAR’s
anticompetitive rules, policies, and practices include:

a. requiring every seller-broker, when listing a property on an MLS, to make a “blanket unilateral
offer of compensation” to any buyer-agent who may find a buyer for the home;

b. requiring that the offer of compensation to the buyer-agent be a blanket offer —i.e., the exact
same compensation terms must be simultaneously offered to every buyer agent without regard
to their experience, the services they are providing to the buyer, or the financial arrangement
they have made with the buyer;

! paragraph numbers correspond to the Paragraph numbering in the complete legal filing of the complaint whose
link appears separately on this page.
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c. prohibiting the disclosure of the total commission — the commission due to the seller-broker
and the portion of the commission earmarked for the buyer-agent — for any listing on an NAR
MLS;

d. permitting buyer-agents to misrepresent to buyers that a buyer-agent’s services are free;

e. permitting and enabling buyer-agents to filter MLS listings based on the offered commissions
and to exclude lower-commission homes from consideration by prospective home buyers;

f. severely restricting brokers’ ability to modify the buyer-agent commission after the buyer-
agent conveys a purchase offer; and

g. limiting access to the lockboxes that provide physical access to homes to members of NAR.

12. Defendants’ conspiracy has substantially reduced competition in the market for buyer-agent
services to the detriment of American home buyers. Specifically, Defendants’ conspiracy
enables brokers to raise, fix, and maintain buyer-agent compensation at artificially high levels
that would not exist in a competitive marketplace, which in turn causes home buyers to pay
higher prices. The conspiracy also enables brokers to “steer” home buyers away from lower
commission homes. As a result, home buyers are harmed in at least the following ways:

a. the conspiracy has inflated the cost of buyer-agent services by inflating buyer-agent
commissions;

b. since buyer-agent commissions are paid out of the price buyers pay for their homes, inflated
buyer-agent commissions in turn have inflated home prices; and

c. the conspiracy has reduced the quality of services provided by buyer-agents by, for example,
facilitating the steering of home buyers by their brokers towards higher commission homes and
away from lower-commission homes, even though such homes may otherwise match buyers’
criteria.

14. Defendants’ agreements individually and collectively unreasonably restrain trade in violation
of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1 and Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. §§ 15 & 26; state antitrust laws; consumer protection laws; and common law. Plaintiffs,
on behalf of themselves and the Classes, sue Defendants for these violations and seek treble
damages, injunctive relief, and the costs of this lawsuit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.

THE PARTIES
A. Plaintiffs

20. Plaintiff Mya Batton (“Batton”) is a resident of Tennessee. In 2020, Batton purchased a home
in Mount Juliet, Tennessee using a buyer-agent. The home Batton purchased was listed on the
RealTracs multiple listing service (“RealTracs MLS”). Upon information and belief, the RealTracs
MLS is run by associations with boards of directors comprised entirely of NAR members who
must adhere to NAR'’s guidelines and policies.

21. Plaintiff Aaron Bolton (“Bolton”) is a resident of Florida. In 2021, Bolton purchased a home in
Parrish, Florida using a buyer-agent. The home Bolton purchased was listed on the Stellar
multiple service (formerly known as the Florida Regional Multiple Listing Service) (“Stellar
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MLS”). Upon information and belief, the Stellar MLS is owned by an NAR member broker and
adheres to NAR’s guidelines and policies.

22. Michael Brace (“Brace”) is a resident of Kansas. In 2020, Brace purchased a home in
Wichita, Kansas using a buyer-agent. The home Brace purchased was listed on the South
Central Kansas multiple listing service (“SCK MLS”). Upon information and belief, the SCK MLS
is owned and/or run by realtors of South Central Kansas, an NAR member that must adhere to
NAR’s guidelines and policies.

23. Plaintiff Do Yeon Irene Kim (“Kim”) is a resident of Florida. In 2018, Kim purchased a home
in Orlando, Florida using a buyer-agent. The home Kim purchased was listed on the Stellar
MLS. Upon information and belief, the Stellar MLS is run by shareholder organizations
comprised of NAR members who must adhere to NAR’s guidelines and policies.

24. Plaintiff Anna James (“James”) is a resident of North Carolina. In 2022, James purchased a
home in Greensboro, North Carolina using a buyer-agent. Also in 2022, James purchased a
home in High Point, North Carolina using a buyer-agent. Both homes James purchased were
listed on the Triad Multiple Listing Service, Inc. (“Triad MLS”). Upon information and belief, the
Triad MLS is owned by an NAR member broker and adheres to NAR’s guidelines and policies.

25. Plaintiff James Mullis (“Mullis”) is a resident of Nevada. In 2020, Mullis purchased a home in
Henderson, Nevada using a buyer-agent. The home Mullis purchased was listed on the Greater
Las Vegas Association of REALTORS® multiple listing service (“GLVAR”). Upon information and
belief, the GLVAR MLS is owned and/or run by the Greater Las Vegas Association of
REALTORS®, an NAR member that must adhere to NAR’s guidelines and policies.

26. Plaintiff Theodore Bisbicos (“Bisbicos”) is a resident of Massachusetts. In 2021, Bisbicos
purchased a home in Chelsea, Massachusetts using a buyer-agent affiliated with Coldwell
Banker. The home Bisbicos purchased was listed on the MLS Property Info Network
(“MLSPIN”). Upon information and belief, the MLSPIN is run entirely by NAR members who
must adhere to NAR'’s guidelines and policies.

B. Defendants

27. Compass, Inc. (“Compass”) is a publicly-traded company incorporated in Delaware with its
principal place of business in New York. Compass’s stock began trading on the New York Stock
Exchange after its initial public offering in April 2021. Through 2022, Compass represented
sellers or buyers in more than 700,000 transactions totaling more than $780 billion in gross
transaction value; Compass is the largest independent real estate brokerage by gross
transaction value. Compass has more than a dozen offices in this District and transacts
business in this District.

28. eXp World Holdings, Inc. (“eXp”) is a publicly-traded company incorporated in Delaware with
its principal place of business in Bellingham, Washington. eXp offers the bulk of its real estate
brokerage services through its subsidiary, eXp Realty, LLC. eXp has brokerages in all 50 states
in the United States residential real estate market. For the year ended December 31, 2022,
eXp’s agent count exceeded 86,000 and the company provided brokerage services for over
511,000 transactions. As used herein, the term “eXp” will refer collectively to eXp World
Holdings, Inc. and eXp Realty, LLC. eXp has multiple offices and transacts business in this
District.
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29. Redfin Corporation (“Redfin”) is a publicly traded company incorporated in Delaware with its
principal place of business in Seattle, Washington. Redfin operates in more than 100 markets
(including in this District) and has developed partnerships with over 8,700 agents at other
brokerages. Redfin has over 2,400 agents of its own, and in 2022 provided brokerage services
for over 80,000 residential real estate transactions. Redfin has multiple agents operating in this
District and transacts business in this District.

30. Weichert Realtors (“Weichert”) is a nationwide real estate brokerage company with its
principal place of business in New Jersey. As of July 2022, Weichert operates through 375
franchise offices in 43 states and touts itself as “one of the nation’s leading providers of real
estate and related services.” Weichert has offices and transacts business in this District.

31. United Real Estate Group is a nationwide real estate brokerage company with its principal
place of business in Dallas, Texas. United Real Estate Group is the sixth largest brokerage in

the United States with company-owned brokerages in Dallas, Houston, Chicago, Philadelphia,
and Washington, D.C.

32. Howard Hanna Real Estate Services (“Howard Hanna”) is a privately held real estate
brokerage company with its principal place of business in Pennsylvania. In 2022, Howard
Hanna was ranked first as the largest privately held real estate brokerage company in the
United States, and ahead of other publicly traded companies such as Redfin and United Real
Estate Group. In 2022 alone, Howard Hanna was engaged in over 113,000 transactions with a
sales volume in excess of $36.6 billion. According to Howard Hanna, it is a “powerhouse brand
that stretches across the East Coast and into the Midwest . . .” with “15,000” agents across a
“13-state footprint.”

33. Douglas Elliman Inc. (“Douglas Elliman”) is a publicly traded real estate brokerage company
incorporated in Delaware with its principal place of business in Florida. Douglas Elliman owns
Douglas Elliman Realty LLC, which provides residential real estate brokerage services. Douglas
Elliman Realty LLC is the sixth-largest residential brokerage company in the United States. In
2022, Douglas Elliman was engaged in over 26,000 transactions with a sales volume valued at
over $42 billion. Douglas Elliman has over 20 offices with approximately 6,900 real estate
agents. As used herein, the term “Douglas Elliman” will refer collectively to Douglas Elliman, Inc.
and Douglas Elliman Realty LLC.

34. Each Defendant is a member of NAR.
C. Co-Conspirators

35. Defendants’ co-conspirators include the four largest real estate brokers in the country:

Anywhere Real Estate Inc. (f/k/a Realogy Holdings Corp.), HomeServices of America, Inc.,
RE/MAX Holdings, Inc., and Keller Williams Realty, Inc. Plaintiffs have brought suit against
these co-conspirators, as well as NAR, in a related litigation.

53. The following exampile illustrates how this process typically works:

¢ A homeowner enters into a contract with a seller-broker, in which the seller agrees to pay the
seller-broker 6% in total commissions in exchange for marketing and facilitating the sale of the
home.
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¢ The seller-broker then makes a blanket, unilateral offer of a 3% commission to every buyer-
agent when it lists the home on the MLS.

¢ A buyer-agent shows the property to a buyer client, who buys the home for $500,000.

¢ The buyer pays the $500,000 purchase price into an escrow account. The escrow company
then simultaneously transmits the seller-broker’s commission (3% of the sales price or $15,000)
to the seller-broker, the buyer-agent commission (3% of the sales price or $15,000) to the
buyer-agent, and the net amount due to the seller.

54. Buyer-agent fees are paid out of the funds from the purchase price of the house — a price
the home buyer pays. But, because the buyer-agent commission is ostensibly paid by the seller,
buyers do not necessarily realize that the broker commission is added to the purchase price of
the home such that buyers are sharing the cost of the commission with the seller. This fact is
obscured further by NAR’s Code of Ethics, which permits and encourages buyer-agents to tell
their clients that their services are free. In fact, home buyers pay a high price for these “free”
services in the form of supracompetitive purchase prices and buyer-agent commission rates as
well as reduced quality of buyer-agent services.

64. NAR’s rules and policies include:
(i) the Buyer-Agent Commission Rule;

(i) a prohibition on disclosing to buyers the total commissions paid to brokers upon the sale of a
house (“Concealment Rule”);

(iii) rules permitting and encouraging buyer-agents to represent to home buyers that their
services are free (“Free-Service Rule”);

(iv) rules allowing and making it easy for buyer-agents to filter MLS listings to only those with
high commissions (“Filter Rules”);

(v) rules restricting sellers and seller-brokers’ ability to modify the commissions offered to buyer-
agents after an offer to purchase the listed home has been made (“Commission Modification
Rules”); and

(vi) the restriction of access to lockboxes, which hold the keys to houses for sale, to only NAR
members (“Lockbox Policy”).

A. The Buyer-Agent Commission Rule

66. The Handbook sets forth the Buyer-Agent Commission Rule as follows: “In filing a property
with the multiple listing service of an association of REALTORS®, the participant of the service
is making blanket unilateral offers of compensation to the other MLS participants, and shall
therefore specify on each listing filed with the service, the compensation being offered to the
other MLS participants.”

67. The Handbook further states that “multiple listing services shall not publish listings that do
not include an offer of compensation expressed as a percentage of the gross selling price
or as a definite dollar amount, nor shall they include general invitations by listing brokers to
other participants to discuss terms and conditions of possible cooperative relationships.”
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68. This practice is virtually universally adopted. Indeed, nearly every MLS in the U.S. requires
that listing brokers offer compensation to buyer-agents.

69. As a result of the Rule, seller-brokers must make blanket unilateral unconditional offers of
compensation to their adversarial buyer-agents. These blanket offers relieve buyer-agents of the
need to compete on things like price and quality of services. Thus, the Buyer-Agent Commission
Rule reduces competition in the market for buyer-agent services and harms home buyers in a
number of ways.

70. First, through the Buyer-Agent Commission Rule, Defendants act to sustain high
commission rates for broker services. This commission rate is then baked into the price of the
house, artificially raising home prices.

73. Indeed, the Consumer Federation has called brokers “a price-setting cartel.” As the
Federation explained, “[i]n a rational pricing system, home sellers and buyers would each pay
for real estate brokerage services they receive.” But, “[i]f sellers and buyers each separately
negotiated compensation with their brokers, uniform commissions would quickly disappear.”

74. Second, buyer-agents “steer” home buyers to residential properties that offer higher
commissions. Steering of home buyers to high commission homes reinforces high commission
rates. It also reduces the quality of buyer-agent services by incentivizing buyer-agents to limit
the homes they show prospective buyers to those that offer high commissions. Home buyers
are therefore both more likely to pay a higher price for their home (since the buyer-agent
commission is baked into the sale price), and less likely to be matched with the optimal home —
the exact task the buyer-agent is paid to do.

75. Fear of having buyers steered away from a property is also a strong deterrent to sellers who
would otherwise offer lower buyer-agent commissions, which further contributes to higher prices
for buyer-agent services.

85. The reason for the Buyer-Agent Commission Rule is clear: to maintain high broker
commissions for NAR members at the expense of home buyers. In the absence of the Rule,
buyers rather than sellers would negotiate buyer-agent commissions, and brokers would
compete with each other by offering lower commission rates and/or higher quality services.

B. The Commission Concealment Rule

86. The anticompetitive effects of NAR’s Buyer-Agent Commission Rule are magnified by
additional rules adopted and enforced by Defendants. NAR’s Commission Concealment Rule
prohibits disclosing to prospective buyers the total commissions offered to buyer-agents. So,
while buyer-agents can see the commission they will earn if their client purchases a property,
NAR MLSs conceal this fee from the home buyers who will actually pay the commission through
the home purchase price.

87. NAR has instituted a series of rules ensuring commission concealment from buyers. These
rules are laid out in several places in NAR’s Handbook, including Policy Statement 7.23, which
states “the multiple listing service shall not publish the total negotiated commission on a listing
which has been submitted to the MLS by a participant. The multiple listing service shall not

disclose in any way the total commission negotiated between the seller and the listing broker.”
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88. Simultaneously, the NAR rules mandate price information sharing among brokers through its
MLS rules. This type of one-way information exchange agreement eliminates the need for
buyer-agents to compete on price by offering rebates or accepting lower commissions. It also
encourages and enables brokers to set persistently high commission offers, leading to higher
prices for buyer-agent services. Additionally, since buyers cannot see commission offers, they
cannot detect or resist steering. As explained above, steering results in higher prices and
reduces the quality of buyer-agent services for home buyers.

C. NAR’s Free-Service Rule

89. NAR’s Free-Service Rule, which has been widely adopted by NAR MLSs, encourages
buyer-agents to mislead buyers into thinking that the buyer-agent’s services are free when they
are not.

90. Until January 2021, NAR Ethics Standard 12-2 stated “REALTORS® may represent their
services as ‘free’ or without cost even if they expect to receive compensation from a source
other than their client provided that the potential for the REALTOR to obtain a benefit from a
third party is clearly disclosed at the same time.” Because buyer-agents governed by NAR are
technically paid through the seller-broker, those buyer-agents can always tell their buyer clients
that their services are free. As a result, buyers think they are paying nothing for buyer-agent
services.

91. Because buyers do not believe they are paying anything for brokerage services, they are
unlikely to (1) attempt to negotiate a lower buyer-agent commission and/or (2) search for or find
attractive buyer-agent rebate offers or other discounts. In these ways, NAR’s Free-Service Rule
leads to higher prices for services provided by buyer-agents.

D. NAR’s Commission Filter Rules

92. NAR’s Commission Filter Rules allow buyer-agents to filter MLS listings that will be shown to
buyers based on the level of buyer-agent commissions offered. Some MLSs further permit
buyer-agents not to show certain homes to potential home buyers if the buyer-agent will make
less money because of lower commissions, even though those homes otherwise meet the
buyer’s search criteria.

93. For example, according to Policy Statement 7.58 of NAR’s Handbook “Participants may
select the IDX listings they choose to display based only on objective criteria including . . .
cooperative compensation offered by listing brokers.”

94. These Filter Rules, which have been widely adopted by NAR MLSs, facilitate steering by
helping buyer-agents selectively conceal from potential home buyers any property listings
offering lower buyer-agent commissions. This reduces the quality of buyer-agent services and
raises prices for buyer-agent services for home buyers.

E. Commission Modification Rules

95. Even if a home buyer were to obtain enough information to negotiate a lower buyer agent
commission, NAR'’s ethics rules expressly prohibit buyer-agents from attempting to reduce
buyer-agent commissions offered on MLSs through the submission of purchase offers. While
NAR claims that brokers can negotiate their compensation at any time during the transaction,
NAR'’s Standard of Practice 16-16 states:
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REALTORS®, acting as subagents or buyer/tenant representatives or brokers, shall not use the
terms of an offer to purchase/lease to attempt to modify the listing broker’s offer of
compensation to subagents or buyer/tenant representatives or brokers nor make the submission
of an executed offer to purchase/lease contingent on the listing broker’s agreement to modify
the offer of compensation.

In other words, it is an unequivocal violation of NAR’s ethics rules for a buyer-agent to even
present an offer to a seller that is conditional on the seller reducing the buyer-agent
commission.

96. To the extent buyer-agents do seek to modify buyer-agent commissions, NAR illogically
instructs buyer-agents to attempt those modifications before even showing the property to any
potential buyers. By requiring buyer-agents willing to reduce buyer-agent commissions to
request those reductions prior to even showing the property to a potential buyer, NAR
forecloses virtually all negotiation over the buyer-agent commission. To comply, a buyer-agent
would effectively need to contact a seller-broker on his own to negotiate a reduction to his own
commission before his client has even seen the potential home.

97. NAR'’s rules also restrain negotiation of the buyer-agent commission by providing that after
the seller has received purchase offers, the seller-broker is prohibited from attempting to
unilaterally modify the buyer-agent commission that was offered on the MLS. NAR Standard of
Practice 3-2 states:

Any change in compensation offered for cooperative services must be communicated to the
other REALTOR® prior to the time that REALTOR® submits an offer to purchase/lease the
property. After a REALTOR® has submitted an offer to purchase or lease property, the listing
broker may not attempt to unilaterally modify the offered compensation with respect to that
cooperative transaction.

F. NAR’s Lockbox Policy

100. NAR and its members have further reduced competition for buyer-agent services by
limiting access to lockboxes to only those real estate brokers who are members of an NAR
MLS. Real estate brokers keep, with permission from the sellers, keys to the houses for sale in
lockboxes. This allows brokers to provide potential buyers with access to the homes while
keeping the homes secure. The lockboxes are accessed by a real estate broker using a
numerical code or digital Bluetooth® ‘key.’

101. NAR and NAR MLSs have adopted a series of rules (set forth in the NAR Handbook,
Policy Statement 7.31) that limit access to lockboxes only to those real estate brokers that are
members of NAR and subscribe to the NAR MLS. Brokers that are not affiliated with NAR
cannot access the lockboxes and cannot show their clients the homes listed for sale, thereby
lessening competition for buyer-agent services.

102. As described in more detail below, each of these rules and practices have operated to
maintain high commission rates and degrade the quality of the services that home buyers retain
buyer-agents to receive. The rules have imposed higher buyer-agent commissions, maintained
(and even increased) those overcharges over time notwithstanding technology and other
changes that should have substantially reduced commissions, and significantly impeded the
ability of lower-cost alternatives to create a more competitive marketplace.
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VIIl. NAR REQUIRES LOCAL ASSOCIATIONS TO PARTICIPATE IN THE CONSPIRACY

103. NAR requires its members, including state and local realtor associations, as well as non-
member brokers and agents operating in areas with NAR MLSs, to comply with the above anti-
competitive rules, and with other rules contained in NAR’s rules, practices, and policies,
including the NAR Handbook and the NAR Code of Ethics.

IX. DEFENDANTS PARTICIPATE IN, FACILITATE, AND IMPLEMENT THE CONSPIRACY

111. Defendants orchestrated and participated in the conspiracy alleged herein by at least: (1)
requiring their franchisees (and the agents employed by those franchisees) to comply with NAR
rules including the Buyer-Agent Commission Rule; (2) supervising, through their executives,
NAR’s operations including NAR’s adoption, maintenance, and enforcement of rules like the
Buyer-Agent Commission Rule; and (3) controlling local realtor associations by, for example,
participating in the governance and management of those associations and encouraging the
adoption of NAR'’s rules, including the Buyer-Agent Commission Rule.

112. Defendants’ rules and policies require their franchises and agents to (1) comply with NAR’s
Code of Ethics; (2) join and comply with the rules of the local realtor association; and (3)
participate in and comply with the rules of the local MLS, which include the mandatory
provisions of NAR’s Handbook on Multiple Listing Policy.

X. EFFECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

117. Defendants’ conspiracy has had the following anticompetitive effects, among others, in
each area in which a NAR MLS operates, and nationwide:

e Home buyers have paid, through the purchase price of their homes, inflated buyer-agent
commissions and inflated total commissions;

o Inflated total commissions are incorporated into the home purchase price, thereby causing
buyers to pay higher prices for homes;

¢ The retention of a buyer-agent has been severed from the setting of the broker’s commission;
the home buyer retains the buyer-agent, while the home seller sets the buyer agent’s
compensation;

e Price competition among brokers to be retained by home buyers has been restrained;

e Competition among home buyers has been restrained by their inability to compete for the
purchase of a home by lowering the buyer-agent commission; and

e The quality of buyer-agent services has been reduced, as buyer-agents are incentivized to
steer their clients to higher commission homes;

e The quality of buyer-agent services has also been reduced through barriers that prevent
buyer-agents from presenting and receiving purchase proposals that reduce the buyer agent
commission, thus making the proposals more attractive to and more likely to be accepted by
sellers; and

¢ Broker Defendants have increased their profits substantially by receiving inflated buyer-agent
commissions and inflated total commissions.
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XIll. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

139. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and as a class action under Fed. R. Civ.
P. 23(a) and (b)(2) seeking equitable and injunctive relief on behalf of the following class (the
“Nationwide Class”):

Nationwide Class: All persons who, since December 1, 1996 through the present, purchased in
the United States residential real estate that was listed on an NAR MLS.

140. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and as a class action under Fed. R. Civ.
P. 23(a) and (b)(3) seeking damages pursuant to antitrust, unfair competition, consumer
protection, and unjust enrichment laws, on behalf of the following class (the “Damages Class”):

Damages Class: All persons who, since December 1, 1996 through the present, purchased in
the Indirect Purchaser States50 residential real estate that was listed on an NAR MLS.

XIV. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
CLAIMI

Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1
(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class for Injunctive and Equitable Relief)

150. Beginning in at least 1996, Defendants engaged in a continuing contract, combination, or
conspiracy to unreasonably restrain interstate trade and commerce in violation of Section 1 of
the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1.

CLAIM Il

Violation of State Antitrust Statutes
(On Behalf of the Damages Class)

a) Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 44-1401 et seq.

b) Cal. Bus. Code §§ 16700, et seq., and Cal. Bus. Code §§ 17200, et seq.,
c) Conn. Gen. Stat. § 35-24, et seq.

d) D.C. Code Ann. §§ 28-4501, et seq.

e) Haw. Rev. Stat. § 480, et seq.

f) 740 lll. Comp. Stat. Ann. 10/3, et seq.

g) lowa Code §§ 553, et seq.

h) Kan. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-101, et. seq.

i) Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. tit. 10, §§ 1101, et seq.
j)  Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. §§ 445.772, et seq.
k) Minn. Stat. §§ 325D.49, et seq.

[) Miss. Code Ann. §§ 75-21-1, et seq.

m) Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 59-801, et seq.

n) Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 598A, et seq.

o) N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 57-1-1, et seq.

p) N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law §§ 340, et seq.

q) N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-1, et seq.

r) N.D. Cent. Code §§ 51-08.1-01, et seq.

s) Or. Rev. Stat. §§ 646.705, et seq.
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t) R.l. Gen. Laws §§ 6-36-4, et seq.

u) S.D. Codified Laws Ann. §§ 37-1, et seq.
v) Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 47-25-101, et seq.
w) Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-10-3101, et seq.
x) W. Va. Code §§ 47-18-3, et seq., and

y) Wis. Stat. §§ 133.03, et seq.

164. Plaintiffs and the Damages Class Members seek damages and multiple damages as
permitted by law for the injuries they suffered as a result of Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct.

150. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for all damages suffered by Plaintiffs and the
Damages Class Members.

CLAIM 1l

Violation of State Consumer Protection Statutes
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Damages Class)

CLAIM IV

Unjust Enrichment
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Damages Class)

XVI. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Plaintiffs demand a jury trial as to all issues triable by
ajury.

Dated: November 2, 2023

s/ Randall P. Ewing, Jr.

Randall P. Ewing, Jr. (lll. Bar No. 6294238)

George A. Zelcs (lll. Bar No. 3123738)

Ryan Z. Cortazar (Ill. Bar No. 6323766)

KOREIN TILLERY, LLC 205 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 1950 Chicago, IL 60601
Michael E. Klenov (lll. Bar No. 6300228)

Carol O’Keefe (lll. Bar No. 6335218)

KOREIN TILLERY, LLC

Vincent Briganti (admitted pro hac vice)
Christian Levis (admitted pro hac vice)
Noelle Forde (admitted pro hac vice)
LOWEY DANNENBERG, P.C.
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